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The original part of Golden Mine is frame, sheathed in cypress shingles. It has an
irregularly spaced three-bay front and two front doors, one entering into each room.
The porch over these doors was added later, as were the brick steps. The windows

are small with six-over-six lights. To the east is a brick wing. This was essentially
a one-bay addition. It has its own door and the windows are similar to those in the

original frame section. The gable roof of the house is steeply pitched. The box
cornice covers the lintels of the second floor windows. The original wood shingles

have been replaced with composition shingles. A chimney breaks the peak of the roof
at the point where the two sections are joined. Both endwalls have windows, an unusual

feature for a Delaware house of this period. These windows have four-over-four light,
single-hung sashes. There are five windows in each endwall. Frame additions have

been made to the rear of the house. One of these was the original summer kitchen. It
now serves as the modern kitchen for the house.

The plan of the original section of the house is quite unusual. It allowed for one

large hall with a large fireplace, winding stairs to the second floor, and front and
rear doors, separated by a single board partition from a small narrow room with a

corner fireplace. The finest architectural details in the house are found in these
two rooms, particularly the paneled single-board partition. All of the floo¥s in this

section of the house are original, as are all of the exposed beaded joists. These
joists are let into the exposed beaded plate on the front and rear wall. The corner

posts are also exposed, as are some of the braces which are morticed and tenoned into
these posts.

The smaller of the two rooms in the older section of the house had its own exterior

entrance and has been called the preacher's room. The windows receive a heavy, almost
unembellished architrave. The chimney breast is paneled with six equal raised panels

above a simple fireplace surround. This raised panel is repeated above the exterior
door. The chair rail and baseboard are original.

In the larger room, the detailing is slightly different. The overall features of the

two rooms are the same including the chair rails, baseboard, and panels over the doors.
The windows are handled quite differently, lacking any architrave. The fireplace is

large and has provisions for cooking. The surround and mantel are quite plain and the
wall above it is plastered rather than paneled. The mantel returns around the end of

the chimney breast in the area where the door to the brick wing is placed. To the
other side of the fireplace, the butterfly cupboard is let into the chimney breast.

The mouldings are quite simple, the arched doors have glass insets; beneath these are
paneled doors. To the far side of the cupboard is one of the doors to the winding

stair. The double french doors at the rear of the room are a later addition.

The brick portion of the house holds one room on each floor. On the first floor is a
dining room, the second floor a master bedroom. Access to the first floor room can

be attained through the door on the south side of the chimney breast or through the
winding stair, as there are doors to the rooms on each side of it. There is one step

down into the wing. Here the chair rail and baseboard change, reflecting a different
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Golden Mine is significant, both architecturally and historically. Of primary impor-
tance is its architectural distinctiveness. There are few middle-class country houses
in Delaware which still possess the quality of interior architectural detailing that
is found in Golden Mine. Generations of owners have done little to detract from its
character. Outstanding features include the double winding staircase and the fully
paneled, single-board partition. Exposed structural members are found on both the
first and second floors. The parlor has a large open hearth and an elegant butterly
cupboard.

Historically, it is uncertain whether Golden Mine was built before or after 1763.
Architectural features in the older part of the house indicate that construction
might have been before this date. 1In that case, the house would have been built by
a tenant on land owned by an absentee landlord. Therefore, it would provide a rare
example of a house built by the landless class which is still in a good state of
preservation.

Furthermore, the Golden Mine tract of about 800 acres is typical of the speculative
holdings that characterize colonial Delaware. It was owned by members of the Barbadian,
Iondon, and Pennsylvania land companies from 1686 until 1763. Such speculation in
large parcels had a profound effect on the development of the frontier. In 1763, the
Pennsylvania Land Company divided the 500 acres into farms of 140 acres, 325 acres,
165.25 acres, and 126 acres. Since a mill had already been built adjacent to the

tract in 1747, it is evident that nearby lands were already being farmed.

Throughout its history, Golden Mine has served as the plantation house for one of the
farms carved from the original Golden Mine tract. After the 1763 division of Golden
Mine the owner of the property, William Tharp, occupied the house. At sometime before
1780, the house was expanded to its present size.

Thus it can be seen that, despite the divisions of the tract itself and its successive
owners through time, the structure has remained a fine example of an architectural
style.
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construction date. The fireplace wall consists of vertical beaded boards, the
mantel shelf is quite plain. A crane remains built into the fireplace. Next to
it is a small closet, the door of which has its original hinges, and above this is
a built-in medicine cabinet. In the closet one can see the unusual construction
of the winding stair.

The stair is built entirely into the chimney breast. Several steps project into

the rooms on each side. At the chimney breast the stairs begin to turn. They form
a triangular pattern in one direction, and then the other. They are the only stair-
case in the house and, despite constant use for a period of two hundred years and

an unusual construction, are very stable.

The second floor detailing reflects that of the first floor, and also the two
periods of construction. Chair rails and baseboards are evident. Joists, posts,
and plates are beaded and exposed; the floor is original. Most of the doors are
original and many have their original hardware. The plan has been changed slightly
to accommodate a modern bathroom, but this does not harm the character of the house.
No fireplaces are found on this level. A winding staircase leads to the unfinished
attic.

Alterations and changes have been made to Golden Mine. A baseboard heating system
was installed along with modern plumhing and wiring. Most of this has been done by
the present owners who are quite sympathetic to the historic fabric. The facade of
the brick section of the house was recently sandblasted by the owners in response

to some poor advice on a cleaning process. To rectify the extensive damage caused
by this process, the owners intend to remove the damaged brick and reface the facade.
Past renovation included the addition of a rear porch and a modern kitchen in a wing
off the dining room. Despite these alterations, the simple elegance of the original
detailing can readily be seen throughout the house.

Golden Mine is set near the road and is surrounded by trees. It is located approxi-
mately three miles west of Milford in an area that is predominantly agricultural.

A pond nearby was a mill pond and early nineteenth-century plots show that a grist-
mill and sawmill were just across the road. One of the mills was operational until
this century when fire destroyed it.

About 400 feet to the east of Golden Mine lies a nineteenth-century family graveyard,
which is included in the nominated area. Between the graveyard and the house are
two twentieth-century houses which constitute modern intrusions to the site. The
farm buildings are excluded from the nomination.

éé‘{ll( L7 éé




Blair's Pond

%
DELAWARE DIVISION OF I_m.ﬂOm_ﬁ>_. AND CULTURAL >....T$

DRAWN BY

JCA

FILE K tHNH

Golden Mine_Farm

1y

SCALE RMJV

MAP

TITLE SKETCH




